ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1.  Judge James W. Lawler committed error by denying the appellant' s
motion for a two- week continuance to allow her new counsel to

represent her due to counsel' s conflict on the day of trial.

2.  Judge Nelson E.  Hunt committed error in Finding of Fact 2. 21 by
finding that Ronald Gates was a vulnerable adult and that Kyon
Brundage violated her fiduciary duty and thereby caused him financial
ruin.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1.   When a continuance of a few weeks is requested a month

before trial because a party is attempting to retain counsel who
has a conflict on the date of trial; the requested time for trial

would place it at approximately one year from the time of
filing;  and the case had previously been continued by
agreement of the parties because of an ongoing need for
discovery and the fact that on the prior trial date it was very
unlikely that they would go to trial due to a murder trial set for
the same week; was in error for the court to deny a continuance
of a few of weeks to allow the requesting party to be
represented by counsel?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ron Gates and Kyon Brundage were married on August 19, 2004.

CP 2)  They separated on May 24, 2011.  ( CP 2)  On June 8, 2011 Ronald

Gates ( age 75) filed for dissolution of marriage to his wife Kyon Brundage

age 71). ( CP 1)  He signed the petition himself on June 3, 2011. ( CP 4)

Summons by mail was filed with the court on July 22, 2011 ( CP 5) and it
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was signed for by Ms. Brundage in Arizona on July 26, 2011. ( CP 8) On

October 20, 2011 a trial date was set for February 29, 2012. ( CP 27)

On January 31, 2011 the trial date was continued by motion of the

respondent and stipulated to by the parties, the court order stated that the

continuance was:

Based upon the need for continuing discovery,   and

compliance with existing discovery requests, and the fact
that only one judge is potentially available the week that
trial is currently set ( February 29, 2012) and a murder trial
set to occur that week, the court finds good cause to strike

the trial date on 2/ 29/ 12- 3/ 1/ 12. ( CP 51)

It was signed by Judge Richard L Brosey.  The new trial date was set for

May 9, 2012. ( CP 57)

The same day this order was entered in court, Robert Schroeter

filed his notice of intent to withdraw as attorney for Ms. Brundage and the

next day he filed an amended notice of intent to withdraw. ( CP 52- 53)  A

withdrawal and substitution of counsel was entered on February 13, 2012

with Dana L Williams substituting in. ( CP 54- 56)  Mr. Williams filed his

notice of intent to withdraw on March 14, 2012.

On April 11,  2012,  Roberta Church filed a Limited Notice of

Appearance, signed on April 4, 2012, which would become effective on

June 1, 2012 if the trial date of May 9- 10, 2012 was continued. ( CP 60)

That date she also filed a docket notice for the hearing of a Motion and

2



C

Declaration for Temporary Order which was noted for April 20, 2012. ( CP

63)  Finally, on that date Ms. Church filed a Motion and Declaration for

Temporary Order which was signed only by Ms. Brundage. ( CP 61- 62)

Her motion was to continue the trial date. In her declaration she stated that

she had found a new attorney but that the attorney was not available for

trial on May 9- 10, 2012. She then requested that the case be continued to

the closest available date after June 1, 2012. ( CP 61- 62)  It was signed on

April 5, 2012 in Avondale, Arizona. (CP 62)

On April 18, 2012 Mr. Gates filed his responsive declaration. ( CP

64- 65)  In it he stated that he opposed the continuance because she had

already had 2 attorneys. The first apparently withdrew following the 1st

settlement conference and the second withdrew following the 2nd

settlement conference.  He claimed that the last continuance was to

accommodate Ms. Brundage' s attorney' s withdrawal.  Without providing

any basis of knowledge he then claimed that Ms.  Brundage fired the

second attorney and therefore she chose to get a new attorney. (CP 64)  He

then stated that the last continuance cost him extra money and this

continuance would also cost him extra money. He concluded by pointing

out that he is not getting any younger and he speculates that it appears that

Ms. Brundage " is deliberately trying to drag this matter out." ( CP 65)  The

declaration was signed by Mr. Gates. ( CP 65)
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The hearing was held on April 20, 2012. ( Continuance Motion RP

1)    At the hearing Ms.  Brundage was not present and Ms.  Church

appeared, but stressed that she was not representing Ms. Brundage unless

the case was continued. ( Continuance Motion RP 4- 5)

Mr.  Gates'  attorney,  Kelli Bringolf,  argued what had been

presented in Mr. Gates' declaration. She then commented that she was

unaware that the continuance was being requested because of the other

attorney' s unavailability.   She had originally thought that Ms.  Church

should have had plenty of time to prepare because she filed her notice of

appearance on April 4th which was over a month before trial.

Continuance Motion RP 5- 6)

The Court then asked Ms. Church if she wanted to be heard, and

she stated:

Ms.  Brundage approached me about being her
attorney for the trial and I explained to her that I had other
commitments at that time, and then she went ahead with

this if I would agree to help her if the trial date got
continued. ( Continuance Motion RP 6- 7)

The trial court then issued its ruling, stating:

All right. Well, the matter is set for trial May 9th
and 10th. I' m going to deny the motion for the continuance.
There is a long history here. The matters been set. There-- I
don' t want to encourage the behavior of firing attorneys and
hiring attorneys in order to get continuances, so we' ll leave
that on for the 9th and 10th. ( Continuance Motion RP 7)
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The trial began on May 9, 2012. ( RP Vol. 11)   Ms. Brundage did

not have counsel representing her. ( RP Vol. I 3)  Mr. Gates did not testify

in the trial. Only his 2 daughters testified, Renell Hull and Sharlynn Gates.

RP Vol. I 12- 119)  ER 904 documents, with 112 documents, had been

submitted by Ms. Bringolf the same day that Ms. Brundage' s first attorney

withdrew and the 14 days expired the day after the new attorney submitted

the substitution of counsel.  ( CP 28- 50,  54- 56)  There was never an

objection filed.  As a result, these were admissible at trial. ( RP Vol. 1 5)

Ms. Brundage did not know what she was doing in representing

herself in the trial.  She did not know how to make an opening argument.

RP Vol. I 1- 12)

She did not know how to make an objection nor did she know the

rules of evidence. ( RP Vol. I 37, 84- 85, 94- 95, 98- 99,  102- 103, 106, 108,

109- 110 )  Even the trial court noted this on the record. ( RP Vol. 137, 69)

Of the 6 objections she made, only one was sustained and that was on a

basis different from the reason for the objection ( the objections were made

because Ms. Brundage thought the facts were wrong, not because the

statement violated a rule of evidence).  ( RP Vol. 184- 85, 94- 95, 98- 99,

102- 103, 106, 108)
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She did not know how to question witnesses.   When her first

question on cross of Renell Hull was objected to she did not attempt to ask

her any more questions . ( RP Vol. I 62)

She did not know how to call witnesses.  She had no witnesses

ready for trial, but rather had notarized statements that she believed she

could present in lieu of their live testimony. ( RP Vol I 119)  She was able

to get 3 witnesses to testify at trial the next day, but these were not all of

the witnesses whose testimony she attempted to get in through notarized

statements. ( RP Vol. 1 50- 73)  One of these whose testimony did not come

in was an accountant who would have testified regarding the parties 2005

taxes. ( RP Vol. I 126- 127)    Another witness she needed was someone

who could testify about a police report from Maricopa, Arizona regarding

Mr. Gates' arrest and being placed in jail for domestic violence. (RP Vol. I

123)  The court refused to admit this because there was no one to testify

regarding it and because the court felt that it was irrelevant as the case did

not involve custody of children. ( RP Vol. I 123- 124)    Even when she

testified, she tended to ramble, the Court noted that he was " not hearing a

lot of testimony about the property".( RP Vol. II 28)

She also had a physical disability in her hearing. ( RP Vol. I 28, 34-

35, 82)  It was noted on the record that the court waited for her to get her

hearing aid in. (RP Vol. II 91)
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Ms. Bringolf was clearly aware that Ms. Brundage did not know

the rules of evidence.  She lead extensively, over 43 times. ( RP Vol. 116-

18, 23, 33, 36, 41- 45, 48, 51- 53, 54- 61, 63, 64- 67, 85, 88, 90, 93, 96- 98,

100, 104- 107, 109- 110)

She also submitted evidence that was inadmissible, but there was

no objection.  Testimony came in from Sharlynn Gates, identifying a list

for illustrative purposes only, of property that was left in the Port Angeles

and Arizona homes. ( RP Vol. 107)  Sharlynn testified that the maker of

the list was her sister who talked to her father to make the list. There was

no objection raised by Ms. Brundage. ( RP Vol. 107)

Exhibit number 58 was Mr. Gates financial declaration. ( RP Vol. I

109)     Sharlynn testified that it was her father' s signature on the

declaration. ( RP Vol. I 109, 110)  Ms. Brundage again did not object to the

admission of the exhibit. (RP Vol. I 109- 110)  It was at this point that Ms.

Brundage acknowledged that she did not know what to say because it was

not true, but she knew the court did not accept that as an objection, so the

exhibit was admitted. ( RP Vol. I 109- 110)

Exhibit number 59 was also utilized for illustrative purposes and

was Mr. Gates proposed division of assets. ( RP Vol. I 16, 110)  This was

the division of property that proposed to give Mr. Gates property that Ms.

Brundage owed prior to the marriage. ( RP Vol. I 110- 111)  Sharlynn was

7



allowed to answer in the affirmative to the leading question that this was

what her father was " proposing as a just and equitable division of assets".

RP Vol. I 110- 111)  There was no testimony presented as to the maker of

the document.    This document was used as the basis for the court's

division of property. (( RP Vol. 11 88)  Once again, there was no objection

made by Ms. Brundage to this document.

To establish vulnerability at trial, Ms. Bringolf presented Renell

Hull' s testimony that Ms. Brundage had her father' s power of attorney.

RP Vol. 1 17) In response to the question of the purpose for the power of

attorney the following testimony was given:

A: My dad had a stroke and was incapacitated.
Q: And what date did he suffer the stroke?
A: He had a stroke on December 15th, 2009.

Q: Okay. So not quite a month later a power of attorney was
granted to Ms. Brundage?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. Was Mr. Gates able to manage his financial affairs
after his stroke?

A: No.

Q: Was he able to think clearly?
A: No.

Q: Was he able to care for himself physically?
A: No. ( RP Vol. 117- 18)

Next, Sharlynn testified regarding exhibit number 29 ( This exhibit

is not currently in the court papers. It was requested but the clerk was not

able to immediately find it because it was in ER 904 pleading and was not

formally admitted at trial. A copy of it is attached hereto and Incorporated
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herein by reference for the court pending the clerk' s paper being

transferred to the court.) This exhibit contained some discharge papers

from Providence Hospital and some medical bills.  After being presented

with this exhibit, Sharlynn was asked:

Q And under speech pathology, can you try to read what the
doctor has written?

A "Patient has continued to improve cognitive processes but

still presents deficits in thought, organization, and

sequencing. Continued concern for safety awareness for
transition. Recommend home health care facilities."

Q Okay. Maybe services?
A Services.

Q Okay. And in the paragraph above, does it indicate that he
should -- under physical therapy, does it indicate that he
should have somebody with him at all times?
A Yes. ( RP Vol. 1 63)

She further testified that on December 20, 2010 her father had a

heart attack while in Phoenix, Arizona. (RP Vol. 1 64)  Ms. Brundage was

in Washington State at that time. ( RP Vol. 1 64- 65)  Through a leading

question, she referred back to the discharge statement quoted above for the

proposition that he was supposed to have someone with him at all times.

RP Vol. I 65)

Finally she testified that on May 10, 2011 her father had a fall

while living in Washington State in a trailer on property owned by Ms.

Brundage. ( RP Vol. I 65- 66)  Ms. Brundage was staying in an apartment at

that location and Mr. Gates had been staying in the trailer. (RP Vol. I 65-
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66)   As a result of the fall he suffered " a fracture of the nasal bone, a

laceration repair", and " tears to his scalp."( RP Vol. I 71) Ms. Brundage

never objected to the relevancy of this testimony.

Ms.  Brundage did however testify that in December 2010 her

husband was " doing great every day". ( RP Vol. II 35)  He was going on

walks sometimes 3 times a day. ( RP Vol. II 35)  When she left she wanted

him to come with her but he refused saying that he would be just fine

there. ( RP Vol. II 35)  When she left she had made arrangements with the

local police department for a senior program called YANA which stood

for You Are Not Alone. ( RP Vol. II 35)   This program provided for a

volunteer to come by the house on a regular basis to check on him.  ( RP

Vol. II 35)  Her son also came by to visit him and brought him dinner one

night. Finally, a friend of hers who lived nearby also agreed to check on

him. ( RP Vol. II 35- 36)  She was gone for a total of 4 days.

In regard to May 10, 2011, Ms. Brundage testified that Mr. Gates

liked to stay in the trailer because it had TV reception and the apartment

did not. (RP Vol. II 32)  She had put a Porta-Potty out there for him. ( RP

Vol.  II 32)   He was excited because that day they were going to a

timeshare in Lake Chelan with all his siblings. It had taken her 3 years to

get the reservations. ( RP Vol. II 32)  She had gone out at 7 o' clock in the

morning to help him get ready when she found blood and discovered that
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he had been injured. ( RP Vol. II 32)  He told her that he was excited for

the trip so he got up early and went out without his walker. (RP Vol. II 32)

A tenant at the apartment call the police when they noticed blood outside

and Ms. Brundage explained to them what happened. ( RP Vol. II 33) She

then took him to the emergency room. (RP Vol. II 33)

Ms.  Bringolf presented testimony claiming that the Maricopa ,

Arizona property was foreclosed on because Ms.  Brundage stopped

making the monthly payment. ( RP Vol. I 74- 77, 100)  The Port Angeles

property was foreclosed on due to failure to pay the mortgage. ( RP Vol. I

87- 89)  It was also claimed that she failed to make payments on his

Citbank card and Discover card resulting in judgments ( RP Vol. 159, 60-

61); and that she failed to properly care for one piece of property that was

condemned. ( RP Vol. I 85)   Lastly, Ms. Brundage took money from Mr.

Gates' IRA to pay for a house in Avondale, Arizona. (RP Vol. I 24- 25, 29,

91)

Ms. Brundage testified that she was advised, first by her brother,

then by REM financial in Arizona, and finally by Mr. Gates; that she

should stop making the payment because he was trying to get a . loan

modification and that was the only way it could be obtained. ( RP Vol. II

23- 24, 45)   The Maricopa, Arizona property was an interest only property

that had no equity, this was also part of the property he turned over to
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REM Financial in Arizona for debt settlement. ( RP Vol. II 20- 21)  Ms.

Brundage provided canceled checks to the court and claimed that she was

paying bills, but she did not explain to the court how the checks related to

the bills that were paid. ( RP Vol. II 128- 129)   Ms. Brundage testified that

she discussed the transfer of his IRA money with Mr. Gates and he had

given his permission.  (RP Vol.  I 25, Vol.  II 38- 39) This was to buy

property in Arizona where he could live closer to the hospital in a better

place in the wintertime. ( RP Vol. II 37)

The court followed illustrative Exhibit 59, with a couple of minor

exceptions, and awarded 4 pieces of property to Mr. Gates that were Ms.

Brundage' s separate property.  These were Fords Prairie,  Lake Desire,

Clearview Heights Drive, and Roanoke Street. ( CP 72)    He did this by

ruling that Mr.  Gates was a vulnerable adult and that Ms.  Brundage

intentionally mismanaged his property in order to pay for and take care of

her own.
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ARGUMENT

WHEN A CONTINUANCE OF A FEW WEEKS IS

REQUESTED A MONTH BEFORE TRIAL BECAUSE

A PARTY IS ATTEMPTING TO RETAIN COUNSEL

WHO HAS A CONFLICT ON THE DATE OF TRIAL;

THE REQUESTED TIME FOR TRIAL WOULD

PLACE IT AT APPROXIMATELY ONE YEAR

FROM THE TIME OF FILING; AND THE CASE HAD

PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONTINUED BY

AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES BECAUSE OF AN

ONGOING NEED FOR DISCOVERY AND THE

FACT THAT ON THE PRIOR TRIAL DATE IT WAS

VERY UNLIKELY THAT THEY WOULD GO TO

TRIAL DUE TO A MURDER TRIAL SET FOR THE

SAME WEEK; IT WAS ERROR FOR THE COURT

TO DENY A CONTINUANCE OF A FEW OF WEEKS

TO ALLOW THE REQUESTING PARTY TO BE

REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL.

The standard for review of a motion for continuance is for an abuse

of discretion.  In the case of In re 1! R. R., 134 Wash. App. 573, 141 P. 3d

85, 89 ( 2006) presented the standard as follows:

We review a trial court' s decision to deny a continuance for
manifest abuse of discretion.  City of Tacoma v. Bishop, 82
Wash.App. 850, 861, 920 P. 2d 214 ( 1996). A trial court

abuses its discretion when it exercises that discretion based

on untenable grounds or reasons.  State ex rel Carroll v.

Junker,  79 Wash.2d 12,  26,  482 P. 2d 775  ( 1971).  In

deciding a motion to continue, the trial court takes into
account a number of factors,  including diligence,  due

process, the need for an orderly procedure, the possible
effect on the trial,  and whether prior continuances were

granted. Bishop, 82 Wash.App. at 861, 920 P. 2d 214. When
denial of a motion to continue allegedly violates

constitutional due process rights, the appellant must show

either prejudice by the denial or the result of the trial would
likely have been different if the continuance was granted.
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State v. Tatum, 74 Wash.App. 81, 86, 871 P. 2d 1123, rev.
denied, 125 Wash. 2d 1002, 886 P. 2d 1134 ( 1994). ( at 580-

581)

The above case involved a termination of parental rights following

a dependency. The father had counsel represent him in the dependency.

The petition for termination of parental rights was filed in August 2004

and the father, representing himself, participated in a court hearing oh

August 12, 2004:  On October 25, 2004 a notice of the trial date was set

for a two-day trial on January 25, 2005. The father did not get counsel

appointed until the day before trial ( there was nothing in the record to

indicate why the attorney was appointed the day before the hearing). It

was the same counsel that had represented him previously in the

dependency.  The father' s attorney requested a continuance from the

attorney for DSHS and it was agreed to, until father failed to show up for

trial the next day. The father had missed the bus. The father' s attorney' s

motion to continue the trial so that he could prepare was denied. The

attorney for DSHS opposed the motion because the father was not present

and the Guardian ad litem opposed the motion because the father's

attorney had represented him in the dependency proceedings and because

the matter " had been pending for at least three years and the children

needed resolution." ( at 579)  The trial court denied the motion to continue

the' trial.
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In its analysis reversing the trial court, the court cited the case of

City of Tacoma v. Bishop, 82 Wash. App. 850, 920 P.2d 214 ( 1996) where

Bishop had been given several continuances to allow him to obtain

counsel and he had failed to do so. Finally, the court in that case denied

his request for continuance and forced him to go to trial. In that case, this

court,  Division 2,  ruled that Bishop' s conduct was not sufficiently

egregious to forfeit his right to representation and reversed because the

court had not warned him of the consequences of his failure to obtain an

attorney. ( Bishop, at 860)

The court next considered the case of In re Welfare of G.E., 116

Wash. App. 326, 65 P. 3d 1219 ( 2003) where the father had gone through 3

appointed attorneys and then on the day of trial he wanted a new attorney

and a continuance. The court allowed his third attorney to withdraw, but

did not appoint new counsel and required him to. represent himself. Once

again, this court, Division 2, ruled that this was not sufficient to deny him

his right to counsel. ( at 337)

Citing these cases, the court in In re VR.R., supra,  concluded that

the father' s conduct was not such that a continuance should not have been

granted.  As a result, they reverse the trial court.

In the case of Ms. Brundage, she had never been long without an

attorney. When her first attorney withdrew on January 31, 2012, 13 days
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later she had a new attorney. After the notice of withdrawal of the second

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