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

date ofDecember 111h was continued as the Respondent had not
met her discovery requirements among other reasons.

Two settlement conferences were held in which the Respondent

balked at any settlement.  Her second attorney, Dana Williams, was
on the case for a month.  And his withdrawal was two months prior

to the second trial date. Now, the Respondent did get a third

attorney who was unavailable for the trial schedule.  That should
have been a little signal that maybe we should find a different

attorney.

But, no, she decided that she would stay with that attorney, and

even though the attorney moved for a continuance that was denied
on May

20th

by Judge Lawler, the Respondent did not even so
much as contact an attorney until the day before trial.  There was
no motion for a continuance made the morning of trial.  And I

652RP 95.
662RP 96.

11-
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laid out six factors for the court to consider in exercising its discretion on a

motion for continuance.  10 Wn. App. 718, 720, 519 P. 2d 994 ( Div. I

1974). 68 These factors include:  ( 1) the necessity of reasonably prompt

disposition of the litigation; (2) the needs of the moving party; (3) the

possible prejudice to the adverse party; ( 4) the prior history of the

litigation, including prior continuances granted the moving party; (5) any

conditions imposed in the continuances previously granted; and ( 6) any

other matters that have a material bearing upon the exercise of the

discretion vested in the court. Balandzich, 10 Wn. App. at 720.

In this case, though the ruling was not lengthy, the Balandzich

factors were considered and addressed in the court' s ruling denying the

continuance.  The court made reference to the " long history" of the case,

and the prior trial continuance, showing a consideration of factors ( 1) and

4).  The court expressed concern that Brundage was hiring and firing

attorneys for purposes of delay and securing continuances.  This goes to

factors ( 2) and ( 3).  Factors ( 5) and ( 6) do not appear to apply in this case.

68These factors have been analyzed in Washington Supreme Court and other Court of Appeals
cases. See, e.g., Trummel v. Mitchell, 156 Wn. 2d 653, 670, 131 P. 3d 305 ( 2006); Harris v.
Drake, 152 Wn.2d 480, 497, 99 P. 3d 872 ( 2004)( dissent); Willapa Trading Co., Inc. v. Muscanto,
Inc., 45 Wn. App. 779, 785- 86, 727 P. 2d 687 ( Div. 1 1986). Brundage references a similar set of

factors from Tacoma v. Bishop, 82 Wn. App. 850, 861, 920 P. 2d 214( Div. I1 1996), a case

dealing with a different issue and continuance standard as explained later in this section, infra.

16-



Both of Brundage' s first two attorneys withdrew the day after

settlement conference.  Obviously that was not the result of a coincidence

she fired them.  Timing was everything.  On April 4, three weeks after

hew second attorney withdrew, and five weeks prior to trial, she hired

Roberta Church, who told Brundage that she had " other commitments"

and would not be available for the scheduled trial date. 69 Yet as of the

motion hearing on April 20, Church still had no " knowledge of the history

of the case because I haven' t gotten into it at this point." 70

Brundage argues on appeal that because of the April 20 denial of

her motion to continue, she " was unable to obtain counsel for the trial." 71

But as of April 20, Brundage had done nothing to prepare her third

attorney for trial, though she had hired her by at least April 4. 72 And then

Brundage waited another 18 days, finally talking to a fourth attorney,

Joseph Enbody, on May 8, the day before trial.  Brundage claimed at trial

that she did not have the money to retain an attorney prior to May 8, but

she had enough money to retain Church in early April for trial and

presumably that money was returned after the trial continuance was

69RP( Apr. 20, 2012) 6.
70RP( Apr. 20, 2012) 7.

71Appellant' s Brief, p. 19.
72RP( April 20, 2012) 7.

17-



denied.  Further, as argued above, Church told her prior to April 4 that she

was not available for the scheduled trial date.  Brundage' s actions,

therefore, support the trial court' s suspicion that Brundage was dragging

her feet and seeking delay by manipulating the trial date through changes

in attorneys.

The " long history" referred to by Judge Lawler on April 20 was

discussed in further detail by Judge Hunt on June 8. Although he was

explaining his May 9 denial of Brundage' s mid-trial motion to continue,

most of his analysis bears equally on the denial of a continuance on April

20 that is the subject of this appeal.  Specifically, Judge Hunt emphasized

the need for a first trial continuance because of Brundage' s conduct, the

withdrawal of two prior attorneys immediately after settlement

conferences, and Brundage' s hiring of a third attorney, five weeks before

trial, who told her up front she was not available for the scheduled trial

date."

Numerous Washington cases have considered the denial of a trial

continuance based on unavailability of counsel — or need for substitute

counsel to prepare— and found no abuse of discretion. See, Willapa

73Appendix, pp. 17- 18.

18-



Trading Co., Inc. v. Muscanto, Inc., 45 Wn. App. 779, 785- 86, 727 P. 2d

687 ( Div. I 1986) ( no abuse of discretion in allowing counsel to withdraw

and denying a continuance when there was insufficient time for a

substitute counsel to prepare for trial); Rich v. Starczeli'ski, 29 Wn. App.

244, 245- 46, 628 P. 2d 831 ( Div. I 1981); De St. Romaine v. City ofSeattle,

5 Wn. App. 181, 182, 486 P. 2d 1135 ( Div. I 1971); Jankelson v. Cisel, 3

Wn. App. 139, 142, 473 P. 2d 202 ( Div. I 1970) ( no abuse of discretion in

denying request for continuance where party obtained new counsel nearly

two weeks prior to the trial date); see also, Eberhart v. Murphy, 110 Wash.

158, 163- 64, 188 Pac. 17 ( 1920).

Moreover, where the " lack of representation results from some act

or omission of the moving party, a motion for a continuance on that

ground is properly denied."  17 Am. Jur. 2d, Continuance § 24, p. 644

2004); accord, Jankelson, 3 Wn. App. at 142; Harms v. Si/nkin, 322

S. W.2d 930, 933- 34 ( Mo. App. 1959) ( multiple lawyers for purpose of

delay); Benson v. Benson, 204 P. 2d 316, 318 ( Nev. 1949) ( divorce case);

see also, Northeast Women' s Center, Inc. v. McMonagle, 939 F. 2d 57, 68

3d Cir. 1991) ( party asked attorney to withdraw to represent self);

Arabian American Oil Co. v. Scarfone, 939 F.2d 1472, 1479 ( 11` h Cir.

19-



1991) ( no abuse of discretion to deny continuance where counsels'

repeated withdrawals appear to be an attempt by party to delay

proceedings).

Here, the trial court made it clear that much of its basis for denying

Brundage' s continuance request was exactly because the lack of

representation resulted from her own conduct, in several ways.  She

changed attorneys twice after settlement conferences.  She hired a third

attorney on April 4 that was not available for the scheduled trial, and filed

a motion to continue on April 11. Further, Brundage' s acts of

intransigence throughout the proceeding made it " very, very clear" to the

court that she was acting in bad faith and seeking delay to take advantage

of Gates' physical condition.74

B.       The Cases Relied Upon By Brundage Concern Waiver/Forfeiture
of Statutory Right to Counsel in Dependency Proceedings.

The cases relied upon by Brundage are completely inapposite. All

three deal with the issue waiver and forfeiture of a guaranteed statutory

right to counsel ( pursuant to RCW 13. 34. 090) in a dependency proceeding.

None of the cases shed light on abuse of discretion vis- a-vis denial of a

continuance in a dissolution case.

In re V.R. R., the primary case relied upon by Brundage, involved a

74Appendix, pp. 18- 19.
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termination of parental rights trial in a dependency case, an area involving

constitutional due process rights and a guaranteed right to counsel under

RCW 13. 34.090( 2).  134 Wn. App. 573, 581, 141 P. 3d 85 ( Div. I 2006).

The court' s holding and legal analysis in that case, as it related to the

denial of a motion to continue, concerned forfeiture of a guaranteed right

to counsel under RCW 13. 34. 090( 2) ( finding no forfeiture under the

specific facts of the case). Indeed, the heading of the section of the

opinion quoted by Brundage is " Forfeiture of Right to Counsel." Further

distinguishing features from the case at bar included the absence of the

party, unprepared counsel, and no prior continuances.  The trial court had

failed to appoint an attorney for the party until the day before trial— with

no reason for the delay on the record— and then refused to continue when

that counsel was not prepared for trial. Id. at 584.  These facts do not shed

light on the instant case, as Brundage had no guaranteed and statutory right

to counsel.

Similarly, the other two cases cited by Brundage and V.R.R. are

dependency matters, and their analyses concerned forfeiture of the right to

counsel under RCW 13. 34. 090(2).  In Tacoma v. Bishop, the court

discussed waiver or forfeiture of the right of representation, and found

abuse because the court did not warn the defendant about the consequences

of inaction, as it related to waiver ofright to counsel.  82 Wn. App. 850,

21-



860, 920 P. 2d 214 ( Div. II 1996).  " Although characterizing the defendant' s

conduct as ' almost complete inaction,' the court concluded it was not

egregious enough to result in forfeiture of the right to representation." Id.

at 859 ( internal quotation omitted; emphasis added).  Brundage does not

explain that the third case cited, In re G.E., also was a termination of

parental rights in a dependency case, and the legal analysis concerned

forfeiture of statutory rights under RCW 13. 34. 090( 2).  116 Wn. App. 326,

337, 65 P. 3d 1219 ( Div. II 2003).  As such, none of these cases bear upon a

straightforward denial of a continuance in a dissolution case.

Moreover, Brundage' s citation to a 1954 case, Chamberlin v.

Chamberlin, 44 Wn.2d 689, 270 P. 2d 464 ( 1954), though it is a dissolution

case, is also misplaced. In Chamberlin, the Washington Supreme Court

ruled that the trial court had abused its discretion in denying a continuance

where an elderly party located out of state had become seriously ill one

week before a dissolution trial and been advised by doctors not to travel,

and no prior continuance had been requested.  Due to the denial, the party' s

attorney was forced to try the case without the presence and assistance of

his client, without witnesses, without evidence, without means of

presenting an adequate defense and without an opportunity to refute

respondent' s testimony. Furthermore, this situation arose without fault on

the part of the appellant as no question has been raised as to any lack of due
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diligence on her part." Id. at 704.

Chamberlin is inapposite to the present facts for a variety of

reasons.  First, the unavailability of the party in Chamberlin— as opposed

to the attorney— is a key distinction.  Without the party present, the

attorney in Chamberlin apparently had no ability to present evidence or any

means of providing an adequate defense, thereby effectively denying the

litigant her day in court.  Second, in Chamberlin, unlike the instant case,

there had been no prior continuance of trial.  This was an explicit condition

of the Chamberlin holding. Id. at 703.  Third, and most importantly, in

Chamberlin there was " no question" about a lack of due diligence on the

part of the moving party.  Her inability to be present was based on " bona

fide illness" and doctor' s orders regarding long-distance travel.  In this

case, on the other hand, as noted by the trial court on June 8, the record is

replete with evidence of intransigence and wrongdoing by Brundage.

A more pertinent decision to the case at bar is Jankelson v. Cisel. In

Jankelson, a medical malpractice case, an attorney for the defendant

appears and then withdraws, and the defendant answers the complaint pro

se.  Trial is set for June 9, and the new attorney withdraws on May 1.  On

May 26, the defendant gets a third attorney, who filed a motion to continue,

which was denied twice by the presiding judge. The motion was renewed

and again denied after assignment to the trial judge.  The Jankelson court
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made clear that a party may not secure a trial continuance simply by hiring

and firing their lawyer:

The withdrawal of an attorney in a civil case or his discharge does
not give the party an absolute right of continuance.  ( Citations

omitted). The rationale for this rule is that if a contrary rule should
prevail, all a party desiring a continuance, under such
circumstances, would have to do would be to discharge his counsel

or induce him to file a notice of withdrawal.

3 Wn. App. at 141.  This rule applies even where the party' s attorney

withdraws just prior to the time the action is called for trial, where the

withdrawal is unexplained. Peterson v. Crockett, 158 Wash. 631, 635- 36

1930).

The facts of the present case are strikingly similar to Jankelson.

Brundage' s second attorney withdrew on March 14, 2012.  Her third

attorney entered a limited notice of appearance for trial on April 4, 2012,

but indicated from beginning she was not available for trial on May 9.

Brundage nonetheless " went ahead" with the third attorney and sought a

continuance.
75 She apparently contacted a fourth attorney on May 8 — the

day before trial— and tried to use that fact to secure a mid-trial

continuance.  The trial court found that Brundage was attempting just the

sort of manipulation feared by Jankelson and Peterson.

C.       Brundage Was Not Prejudiced By the Denial Of Continuance.

75RP( Apr. 20, 2012) 6- 7.
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Even assuming arguendo that the trial court abused its discretion in

denying the trial continuance, Brundage has not demonstrated any prejudice

that resulted from the denial on the facts of this case.

1. Brundage has not demonstratedprejudice

Even if a court improperly denies a continuance, an appellate court

will not disturb the ruling in the absence of proof of some specific prejudice

at trial.  In Sullivan v. Watson, for example, the Court of Appeals found no

abuse of discretion to deny a trial continuance, in part because " there was

no showing as to anything that the defendant could, or would, have said not

covered by his deposition; nor is there any showing as to what the missing

witness could have added to the testimony before the jury."  60 Wn.2d 759,

764, 375 P. 2d 501 ( 1962). 76

This case is similar to Sullivan, in that even if we assume the trial

should have been continued, Brundage has not demonstrated in this appeal

any additional evidence, or improperly-admitted evidence, that would have

changed the result of the court' s property division. Although Brundage did

not have counsel at the trial, she testified, and was given great latitude to

comment on any issue before the court.  She also called three additional

witnesses, and introduced numerous documents to support her case.

76A need to demonstrate specific prejudice is implicitly recognized in Appellant' s Brief, as it
dedicates more than four pages to discussing alleged prejudice to Brundage from the denial of a
continuance. Appellant' s Brief, pp. 20- 24.
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Brundage does not articulate in her appeal what additional evidence

she might have brought that would have led to a different outcome.  The

only argument she makes in this regard is that the court erred in making a

finding that Gates was a vulnerable adult.  The issue regarding the

conflicting trial evidence on vulnerable adult— and why it is not germane

to this appeal— is addressed in subsection 2, infra.  The basis of the

court' s property division was not that Gates was vulnerable, but that

Brundage misappropriated and mismanaged his property. Brundage,

however, has not identified any further testimony she would have offered,

any other document she would have introduced, or any other witness she

would have called, that might have presented specific evidence to cast

doubt on the trial court' s finding that she breached a fiduciary duty to

Gates, misappropriated his assets, and left him in complete financial ruin,

thus justifying an award of her separate property to Gates.  To the contrary,

the trial record shows that despite her misconduct, she received more than

half of the property before the court for division."

2.       Trial court had authority to award Brundage' s separate
properly to Gates ifawardfair and equitable -

Despite her failure to show she would have admitted any additional

relevant evidence if represented by counsel, Brundage argues that the trial

77CP 78- 79.
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court' s award of four pieces of Brundage' s separate property to Gates was

unprecedented" and a" travesty ofjustice." 78 The court, however, may

award the separate property of one spouse to the other spouse if the result is

fair, equitable, and just under all of the circumstances.

Contrary to the case cited by Brundage, " courts seem to have

abandoned an older notion, once valid in Washington, that the separate

property of one spouse may be awarded to the other spouse only under

exceptional circumstances" 79:

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